

Original Research Article

PHYTOCHEMICAL AND ANTI-EPILEPTIC STUDIES OF *BOSWELLIA DALZIELII* (FRANKINCENSE TREE) ETHANOL STEM BARK EXTRACT

Comment [K1]: Rephrased title to read, "Phytochemical and Anti-Epileptic Studies of Ethanol Extract of *Boswellia Dalzielii* (Frankincense Tree) Stem Bark".

Abstract

Aim: This research work aimed to establish scientific basis for the use of *Boswellia dalzielii* stem bark, in traditional medicine as anti-epileptic medication.

Study design: The study is of two (2) phases. Phase I (Chemical Analysis): The stem bark of *Boswellia dalzielii* is to be extracted, screened for phytochemicals, Phase II (Pharmacological studies): The extract is to be subjected to toxicity study using Lorke's method and Pentylentetrazole-induced convulsion in rats and maximal electroshock induced seizure (MEST) in Chick.

Comment [K2]: Kindly report in past tense. E.g., - The study was in two phases...

Comment [K3]: Change to past tense, to read, "was extracted....."

Comment [K4]: Change to past tense, to read "was subjected...."

Place and duration of Study: The study was carried in the Department of Pharmacology laboratory, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Maiduguri, Borno State between January, 2018 to June, 2018.

Methodology: The ethanol stem bark of the plant was extracted and screened for phytochemicals. Acute toxicity study was carried out using Lorke's method and the antiepileptic activity was evaluated using maximal electroshock induced seizure test in day-old chicks and pentylentetrazole (PTZ) using mice.

Comment [K5]: Rephrase sentence to read, "The stem bark of the plant was extracted with absolute ethanol and screened for phytochemicals".

Result: Phytochemical screening of ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* revealed the presence of saponins, tannins, flavonoids and steroids/terpenoides. The intraperitoneal median lethal dose value (LD50) of BDE in mice was 2592.3 mg/kg, indicating the stem bark extract is relatively safe. The extract at the dose of 500 mg/kg body weight protected 40% of animals against PTZ-induced convulsion and also protected 20% of chicks against Tonic Hindlimb Extension (THLE) phase of the Maximal Electroshock Test (MEST) significantly ($p < 0.05$).

Comment [K6]: Rearrange words to read, "ethanol extract of *B. dalzielii* stem bark revealed"

Conclusion: The antiepileptic investigation suggests that ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* has antiepileptic activity.

Comment [K7]: Rearrange sentence as suggested in above.

Keywords: *B. dalzielii*, Phytochemical antiepileptic, pentylentetrazole (PTZ), maximal electroshock induced seizure (MEST)

Comment [K8]: Don't Italize

INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is a common chronic neurological disorder. Around 50 million people in the world have epilepsy and approximately 5% of the general population experience at least one seizure (excluding febrile seizure) during their lifespan [1]. Currently available antiepileptic drugs (AED) are synthetic molecules that have serious adverse effects such as weight gain, hepatotoxicity, teratogenicity and withdrawal symptoms [2]. Pharmacotherapy of epilepsy with available AED is symptomatic as these drugs inhibit seizure and do not cure the underlying disease process in the brain [3]. Globally, about 2.4 million people are diagnosed with epileptic condition each year [4]. In spite of the introduction of valuable antiepileptic drugs, there is no known cure for epilepsy and relapse is still extremely high [5]. This has necessitated the search within the plant kingdom for a new drugs and lead compounds in the treatment of many neurological disorders including epilepsy [6].

Boswellia dalzielii is popular plant in the Northern part of Nigeria due to its ethno medicinal importance.

The decocted root bark is used traditionally by the Hausa-Fulanis in Sokoto, Nigeria to treat diabetes, the bark is boiled up in large quantity to make a wash for fever, rheumatism etc., the fluid is taken internally for gastrointestinal troubles, the Fulanis use a cold infusion for snake bite, the fresh bark of the root is eaten in Adamawa State, Nigeria, to cause vomiting after a few hours and thus relieves symptoms of giddiness and palpitations as well as antidotes to arrow-poison [7,8,9]. This research aimed at establishing a scientific fact regarding the use of *B. dalzielii* for the treatment and management of epilepsy by the local people in Northern Nigeria with the view of identifying an anti-epileptic lead plant.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant collection

The fresh stem bark of *Boswellia dalzielii*, was collected from Lassa, Askira-Uba Local Government Area, Borno State. The plants were identified and authenticated by Professor S.S. Sanusi; a Taxonomist with the Department of Biological Sciences, University of Maiduguri, Borno State Nigeria. A voucher specimen number of 012A was assigned to the plant and was deposited for future reference.

Comment [K9]: End sentence

Comment [K10]: Authors should rewrite the ethno medicinal importance of the plant with punctuation marks rightly placed.

Comment [K11]: Replace with "of", to read "a Taxonomist of the Department of"

Preparation of the Plant Extract

The stem bark of *B. dalzielii* was air dried at room temperature for 2 weeks and was size-reduced into coarse powder using pestle and mortar. the powdered plant material (200 g) each) was defatted with petroleum ether (400ml) for 24 hours using soxhlet extractor. The marc was air dried and macerated with (400ml) of ethanol (99% v/v) for 4 days with occasional shaking. The filtrate was evaporated to dryness in vacuo at 40°C and stored in a desiccator. The extract was subsequently referred to as *Boswellia dalzielii* extract (BDE). A fresh aqueous suspension of the extract in 2% tween-80 was prepared for each study.

Comment [K12]: End sentence with proper punctuation mark

Comment [K13]: Remove brackets

Comment [K14]: Check spelling

Phytochemical screening

The screening was done in accordance with the standard protocol describe by Evans [10]. The extract was screened for the presence of alkaloids, tannins, flavonoids, saponins, anthraquinones, terpenoids, cardiac glycosides, and carbohydrate.

Animals

Male and female Swiss albino mice (19-21 g) were maintained at the Animal House of the Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Maiduguri and used for the study. They were housed in a well-ventilated cage, fed with standard laboratory feed (wheat offal). All experiments were conducted in accordance with the National Institute of Health Guidelines for the Care and use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No.80-23) as revised in 1996.

Comment [K15]: Wrong choice of words. Check and replace

Drugs and Drug Solutions

Pentylentetrazole was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis. USA). Sodium valproate (Fawdon Manufacturing Centre, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, UK) and Phenytoin (Manfes Pharmaceutical Limited, Nigeria). The drug solutions were prepared fresh for each day's experiment to maintain stability of the drugs used. The solutions were kept in air-tight, amber coloured containers and stored in the refrigerator ready for use.

Routes of Drug Administration

The extract, phenytoin and sodium valproate were administered intraperitoneally while pentylenetetrazole was administered subcutaneously

Pharmacological Studies

Acute Toxicity Study

The acute toxicity of the BDE crude extract was investigated in mice using intra-peritoneal route. The method used was as described by Lorke [11]. The study was carried out in two phases, in the initial phase, 3 groups of three mice each were treated with the extract of the plant at doses of 10, 100 and 1000 mg/kg body weight *i.p* and observed for signs of toxicity and death for 24 hours. In the second phase, 3 group each containing one mouse was injected with four more specific doses of the extract based on result obtained in phase I. The LD₅₀ value was determined by calculating the geometric mean of the lowest dose that caused death and the highest dose for which the animal survived ($^{0/1}$ and $^{1/1}$).

Comment [K16]: Remove

Comment [K17]: Use proper punctuation mark

Comment [K18]: Add

Comment [K19]: Remove

Comment [K20]: Pluralize

Comment [K21]: State the values of the doses

Pentylenetetrazole-Induce Seizure in Mice

Twenty-five mice (18-21g) were divided into five groups each containing five mice. The first three groups received BDE (100, 250 and 500 mg/kg) the fourth group (valproic acid 200mg/kg) and the fifth group received 10 mL normal saline per kg body weight intraperitoneally respectively. Thirty minutes later, mice in all the groups received 60 mg/ kg of pentylenetetrazole subcutaneously and were observed over a period of 30 minutes. Absence of a clonic spasm of at least 5 seconds duration indicated a compounds ability to abolish the effect of pentylenetetrazole on seizure threshold [12].

Maximum Electroshock Induced Seizure in Chick

The BDE was administered *i.p* to groups of chicks (23-32g) in doses ranging from 100-500 mg/kg *i.p*. Group one received vehicle while the second group received phenytoin (20 mg/kg *i.p*) as a reference standard. Thirty minutes after pretreatment, maximal electroshock was administered to induce seizure in the chicks using Ugobasile Electroconvulsive machine (model 7801) connected to Claude Lyons stabilizer with corneal electrodes placed on the upper eyelids of the chicks. The current, shock duration, frequency

Comment [K22]: Add

Comment [K23]: Remove

Comment [K24]: Remove and replace with body weight

Comment [K25]: Standard reference NOT reference standard.

and pulse width were set and maintained at 90 mA, 0.80 second, 200 pulse/second and 0.8 m/seconds respectively. The ability to prevent this feature or prolong the latency and/or onset of the tonic hindlimb extension was considered as an indication of an anticonvulsant activity [13].

Comment [K26]: Rewrite sentence stating parameter and value in bracket. E.g. Current (90 mA), Shock duration (0.80 second), Frequency (200 pulse/second) and pulse width (0.8 m/second) were set.

Statistical Analysis

The results pharmacological investigations were analyzed for statistical significance using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnet's test. A $p < 0.05$ was considered significant.

Results

Extraction Profile

The extractive values of *B. dalzielii* stem bark was found to be 12.16 g with yield of 6.08%, (Table 1).

Table 1: Extraction profile of *Boswellia dalzielii* ethanol stem bark extract

Plant	Yield (g)	Percent (%) yield
<i>B. dalzielii</i>	12.16	6.08

Phytochemical screening

Phytochemical screening of ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* revealed the presence of saponins, tannins, flavonoids and steroids/ terpenoides among other phytochemical constituents (Table 2).

Table 2: Phytochemical Screening of *B. dalzielii*

S/No.	Test	Inference
1.	Test for carbohydrate	
	Test for free reducing sugar-Fehling's test	+++
2.	Test for soluble starch	-
3.	Test for tannins	
	Ferric chloride test	++
	Lead acetate test	++
4.	Test for Anthraquinones	-
	Test for combined anthraquinone	-
5.	Test for cardiac glycosides	
	Salkowski test	++
	Liebermann-Burchard test	+++
6.	Test for terpenoids	+++
	Frothing test	++
7.	Test for saponins	
	Frothy test	+++
8.	Test for flavonoid	
	Lead acetate test	++
	Sodium hydroxide test	-
9.	Test for alkaloid	-
	Dragendorff's reagent	-

Key: (+) present in low concentration, (++) present in moderate concentration, (+++) present in higher concentration, (-) absent.

Acute Toxicity

The signs and symptoms observed in the test animals injected intraperitoneally with crude extract of *B. dalzielii* were decreased mobility, decreased activity and death. The intraperitoneal median lethal dose value (LD₅₀) of BDE in mice was 2592.3 mg/kg body weight (Table 3).

Comment [K27]: Move to methods section

Comment [K28]: Remove

Table 3: LD₅₀ value of ethanol stem bark extract *B. dalzielii* in mice

Comment [K29]: Ethanol extract of *B. Dalzielii* stem bark

Group	Mice	Weight (g)	Dose mg/kg	Death
PHASE I				
1	M1	19	1000	0/3
	M2	21		
	M3	19		
2	M1	20	2000	0/3
	M2	19		
	M3	21		
3	M1	18	3000	3/3
	M2	21		
	M3	19		
PHASE II				
1	M1	19	2200	0/1
2	M2	20	2400	0/1
3	M3	19	2800	1/1

Key: 0/1 & 0/3 (no death), 1/1 & 3/3 (death)

Comment [K30]: Remove

Comment [K31]: Remove

$$LD_{50} = \sqrt{2400 \times 2800} = 2592.3 \text{ mg/kg } i.p$$

Effect of Ethanol Stem Bark Extract of *B. Dalzielii* on Pentylentetrazole-Induced Seizure in Mice

Comment [K32]: Ethanol Extract of *B. Dalzielii* stem bark

To determine the dose dependent effect of ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* on pentylentetrazole-induced convulsion, mice were injected (*i.p*) with 100, 250 and 500 mg/kg of the extract for 30 min before pentylentetrazole administration.

Comment [K33]: Remove

The crude ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* at 100 mg/kg b.d wt. protected 20 % of mice against clonic spasm induced by pentylentetrazole. It also decreased onset of seizure of convulsed mice from 4.40±0.24 min in normal saline treated group to 3.75±0.14 min. Similarly, the extract at the dose of 250 mg/kg body weight protected 40% of the mice were protected. It also significantly (p<0.05) increased

Comment [K34]: Remove

Comment [K35]: Ethanol Extract of *B. Dalzielii* stem bark

Comment [K36]: Of which group. Which group has that value

Comment [K37]: Construct your grammar properly. Kindly recap that

onset of seizure of convulsed mice from 4.40±0.24 min in normal saline treated group to 5.33±0.25 min. In addition, the extract at the dose of 500 mg/kg body weight protected 40% of the mice. It also significantly ($p<0.05$) increased onset of seizure of convulsed mice from 4.40±0.24 min in normal saline treated group to 6.00±0.13 min. Valproic acid (200 mg/kg) protected all the mice (100%) against clonic spasm induced by pentylentetrazole, as shown in Table 4

Comment [K38]: Add

Table 4: Effect of ethanol extract of *B. dalzielii* on pentylentetrazole induced seizure in mice

Treatment (mg/kg)	Onset of convulsion Mean time ±SEM	Quantal Protection	Protection (%)
Control (Vehicle)	4.40±0.24	0/5	0
BDE 100 mg/kg	3.75±0.14	1/5	20
BDE 250 mg/kg	5.33±0.25*	2/5	40
BDE 500 mg/kg	6.00±0.13*	2/5	40
Sodium valproate	0	5/5	100

Values are expressed as Mean±S.E.M., * $p<0.05$

Effect of Ethanol Extract of *B. Dalzielii* on Maximal Electroshock Test (MEST) in Chicks

The ethanol extract of *B. dalzielii* at the dose of 100 mg/kg body weight did not protect chicks against tonic hindlimb extension (THLE) in maximal electroshock test. It however increased the mean recovery time from 7.60±0.70 min (normal saline group) to 9.70±0.73 minutes. Similarly, the extract at the dose 250 mg/kg body weight did not protect the chicks against tonic hindlimb extension (THLE) in maximal electroshock test. It decreased the mean recovery time 7.60±0.70 min (normal saline group) to 6.10±0.35 min. The extract at the dose of 500 mg/kg body weight protected 20% of the chicks against tonic hindlimb extension (THLE) in maximal electroshock test and significantly ($p<0.01$) decreased the mean recovery time from 7.60±0.70 min to 4.75±0.33 min. Phenytoin (20 mg/kg body weight) used as positive control produced 100% protection of the chicks against THLE in MEST (Table 5).

Table 5: Effect of ethanol extract of *B.dalzielii* on Maximal Electroshock Test (MEST) in chicks

Treatment (mg/kg)	Mean recovery time (min)	Quantal Protection	Protection (%)
Control (Vehicle)	7.60±0.70	0/5	0
BDE 100 mg/kg	9.70±0.73	0/10	0
BDE 250 mg/kg	6.10±0.35	0/10	0
BDE 500 mg/kg	4.75±0.33*	2/10	20
Sodium valproate	-	10/10	100

Values are expressed as Mean±S.E.M., *p<0.05, n=10

Discussion

The preliminary phytochemical screening of the ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* revealed the presence of saponins, tannins, flavonoids, terpenoids. these results were in accordance with that obtained by Nwinyi et al. [14] and Mamza et al. [15] that reported the presence of tannins and the absence of alkaloids and anthraquinones in the same plant.

Several medicinal plants with reported antiepileptic effect such as *Ficus platyphylla* [6], *Carissa edulis* [16] and *Peristrophe bicalyculata* [17] amongst several others, are largely attributed to the presence of phytochemicals.

Saponins have been shown to produce anticonvulsant activity in animal models [18]. The flavonoid, hispidulin has been reported to act as a positive allosteric modulator across a range of gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor sub-type A (GABA_A) [19]. Woo et al. [20] also reported the sedative effects of saponins and flavonoids obtained from *Ziziphus spina-christi* seeds. It is therefore, possible that the anticonvulsant activity of BDE may be due to the presence of saponins and flavonoids among others which have been shown to be present in the extract.

Comment [K39]: Capitalize

Comment [K40]: Always Ititalize *et al*

Comment [K41]: Remove

The acute toxicity study revealed a relatively high median lethal dose (LD₅₀) of 2592.3 mg/kg of BDE, suggesting that *B. dalzielii* is relatively safe.

The antiepileptic investigation suggests that ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* has antiepileptic activity. The extract at the dose of 500 mg/kg body weight protected 40% of animals against PTZ-induced convulsion. The result demonstrates that *B. dalzielii* stem bark may have the potential of raising seizure threshold. It may, therefore be beneficial in the treatment of myoclonic and absence seizures [21]. Pentylentetrazole is a known convulsant and anticonvulsant activity in subcutaneous PTZ test identifies compounds that can raise the seizure threshold in the brain [22]. It may be exerting its convulsant effect by inhibiting the activity of GABA at GABA_A receptors [23]. GABA is the major inhibiting transmitter which is implicated in epilepsy. The enhancement and inhibition of transmission of GABA will attenuate and enhance convulsion, respectively [24]. Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are effective in the therapy of generalized seizures of (absence or myoclonic) petitmal type such as ethosuximide (ETX), valproic acid (VPA), phenobarbitone (PHB), and benzodiazepine (BDZ) exhibit dose-dependent suppression of various seizure patterns induced by PTZ [21]. At the cellular level, one of the basic mechanisms of actions of AEDs such as ETX and VPA is the suppression of T-type calcium current in thalamic neurons [25,26].

The ethanol stem bark extract of *B. dalzielii* at the dose of 500 mg/kg body weight protected 20% of animals against THLE phase of the MEST and significantly ($p < 0.05$) decreased the mean recovery time of THLE phase of the MEST. The moderate activity of BDE against MEST suggests that it possesses the ability to abolish MEST seizure spread. MEST is a standard AED test that evaluates the testing material's ability to protect against hindlimb tonic extension phase of the MEST [27].

The MEST is a model for generalized tonic clonic seizure which is highly reproducible with a consistent endpoint [28]. AEDs that suppresses the THLE in MEST are effective in the therapy of generalizes tonic seizures and partial seizures.

Protection against tonic hindlimb extension (THLE) in the maximal electroshock test (MEST) predicts anticonvulsant activity of antiepileptic drugs that prevent the spread of the epileptic seizure discharges

from an epileptic focus during seizures. Compounds such as phenytoin, carbamazepine, oxcarbamazepine and lamotrigine suppress THLE in MEST [29].

Conclusion

This study suggests that *Boswellia dalzielii* ethanol stem bark extract contains phytochemicals which might be responsible for the anticonvulsant properties and lends credence to the traditional use of the plant in the management of epilepsy.

COMPETING INTERESTS DISCLAIMER:

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist. The products used for this research are commonly and predominantly used products in our area of research and country. There is absolutely no conflict of interest between the authors and producers of the products because we do not intend to use these products as an avenue for any litigation but for the advancement of knowledge. Also, the research was not funded by the producing company rather it was funded by personal efforts of the authors.

References

- [1] Bell GS, Sander JN. The epidemiology of epilepsy: the size of the problem. *Seizure*, 2001; 10: 360-310.
- [2] McNamara DJ, Pharmacotherapy of epilepsies. In: (Brunton, L.L., Lazo, S.J. and Parker, K.L (Eds) Goodman and Gilman's. The pharmacological basis of therapeutics, Eleventh edition. McGraw-Hill Medical Publishing Division, New York 2006, pp. 501-525.
- [3] Schmidt D. The clinical impact of new antiepileptic drugs after a decade of use in epilepsy research, 2002;50: 21-32.
- [4] WHO, Epilepsy: etiology, epidemiology. Available from [http://www.who.int>media centre> Fact sheet No. 999. 2017 \(access 12 Dec. 2018\).](http://www.who.int>media centre> Fact sheet No. 999. 2017 (access 12 Dec. 2018).)
- [5] Loscher, W. Basic pharmacology of valproate: a review after 35 years of clinical use for the treatment of epilepsy. *CNS Drugs*, 2002;16: 669-694.
- [6] Chindo BA, Ya'u J, Danjuma NM, Okhale SE, Gamaniel KS, Becker A. Behavioral and anticonvulsant effects of the standardized extract of *Ficus platyphylla* stem bark. *J Ethnopharmacol*, 2014;154: 351-360.

- [7] Burkill HM. *Useful Plants of West Tropical Africa*. Volume one, Royal Botanical Gardens Kew. 1985; 300p.
- [8] Danlami U, Daniel GJ, David BM, Galadanchi KM. Phytochemical, nutritional and antimicrobial screening of hexane, ethyl acetate and ethanolic extracts of *Boswellia dalzielii* leaves and bark. *Am J Biosci Bioeng*. 2015;3(5): 76-79.
- [9] Shinkafi TS, Bello, L, Hassan SW, Ali L. An ethnobotanical survey of antidiabetic plants used by Hausa–Fulani tribes in Sokoto, Northwest Nigeria. *J. Ethnopharmacol*. 2015;172: 91–99.
- [10] Evans, WC. *Trease and Evans Pharmacognosy*. 16th Edition. Saunders Publishers, London. 2009, pp. 42–229.
- [11] Lorke, W. A new approach to practical acute toxicity testing. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 1983; 54: 275-287.
- [12] Swinyard EA, Woodhead, JH, White HS, Franklin, MR. General principles; Experimental selection, quantification and Evaluation of anticonvulsant In: R.H. Levey, Mattson, B. J.K. Melrum, FE. Dreifuss, (Eds) *Anti-Epileptic Drugs* 3rd Edition. Raven Press. NewYork, 1989; pp. 85-103.
- [13] Sayyah M, G. Sarouvhani, A. Peirovi, M. Kamalinejad, Analgesic and Anti-inflammatory activity of the leaf essential oil of *Lavraus nobilis* Linn. *Phytother. Res*, 2002;17: 733-736.
- [14] Nwinyi FC, Binda L, Ajoku GA, Aniagu, Orisadipo NMA, Kubmarawa D, Gamaniel KS. Evaluation of the aqueous extract of *B. dalzielii* stem bark for antimicrobial activities and gastrointestinal effects. *Afr. J. Biotech*. 2004;3(5): 284-288.
- [15] Mamza UT, Sodipo OA, Abdulrahman FI, Khan, IZ. (2018). Phytochemical analysis and *in vitro* antimicrobial assay of the methanolic stem bark extract of *Boswellia dalzielii* Hutch. (Burseraceae). *Chem. Res. J*, 2018;3(4):61-168.
- [16] Ya' u J, Yaro, AH, Malami S, Musa MA, Abubakar A, Yahaya SA, Chindo, BA, Anuka JA, Hussaini IM, Anticonvulsant activity of aqueous fraction of *Carissa edulis* root bark, *Pharmaceut. Biol*, 2015;53(9):1329-1338.
- [17] Wapa, KL, Nazifi AB, Malami, S. Evaluation of Anticonvulsant Activity of Methanol Leaf Extract of *Peristrophe bicalyculata* (Acanthaceae) in Experimental Animals. *Nig. J. Pharmaceut. Biomed. Res*. 2018; 3(2) 89-95.
- [18] Dubois M, Ilyas M, Wagner H. Cussonosides A and B, two Triterpene saponins-Saponin from *Cussonia bateri*. *Planta Med*. 1986;52(2): 80–83.
- [19] Kavvadias D, Sand P, Youdim KA, Rice-Evans C, Baor R, Siegel E, Rausch W.F. Riederer P, Schreirer P. The flavones hispidulin, a benzodiazepine receptor Ligand with positive allosteric properties, Transverses the blood brain barrier and exhibits an anticonvulsant effects. *Brit. J. Pharmacol*, 2004;142: 811-820.
- [19] Woo SW, Kuk HS, Sam SK. Chemistry and Pharmacology of flavones-C glycosides from ziziphus seeds. *Korean J. Pharm*. 1980; 11:141-148.

- [20] Loscher W, Honack D, Fassbender, CP, Nolting B. The Role of Technical, Biological and Pharmacological factors in the laboratory evaluation of anticonvulsant drugs. Pentylentetrazole seizure model. *Epilepsy Res.* 1991;8: 171-189.
- [21] White HS, Wolf, HH, Woodhead HJ, Kupferberg HJ. The National Institute of health anticonvulsant drugs development programme. Screening for efficacy In: J. French, I.E. Leppick, M.A. Dichtes, (Eds). *Antiepileptic Drug Development: Advances In Neurology*, Vol.76, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadelphia, 1998, pp. 29-39.
- [22] Desarro A, Cecchetti V, Fravolini V, Naccari F, Tabarrini D, Desarro G. Effects of Novel 6-desfluoroquinolones and classic quinolones on pentylentetrazole-induced seizures in mice. *Antimicro. Agents Chemother.* 1999;43: 1729-1736.
- [23] Westmoreland BF, Benarroch EE, Dube JR, Regan TJ, Sandok BA. Rochester: Mayo foundation, *Med. Neurosci.* 1994. p.307.
- [24] Rho JM, Sankar R. The Pharmacologic Basic of antiepileptic drug action. *Epileptic*, 1999;40: 1471-1483.
- [25] Meldrum BS. Update on the mechanism of action of antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsia*, 1996;37: (Suppl.6), 54-511.
- [26] Delorenzo RJ, Raza M, Chaudhary MI, Soria AA, Sombati S. Anticonvulsant activities of the F.S-1 subfraction isolated from roots of *Delphinium denadatum* *Phytother. Res*, 2001;15: 426-430.
- [27] Stables JP, Kupferberg HJ. The NIH Anticonvulsant Drug Development (ADD) program. In: Avanzini, G., Regesta, G., Tanganelli, and Avoli, M. (Eds) *Molecular and cellular target for anti-epileptic drug*. John Libbey and company Ltd., USA, 1997, pp. 191-198.
- [28] Browning B. The Electroshock model neuronal network and antiepileptic drugs. In: Faingold, C.L., and Fromm, G.H. (Eds) *Drugs for control of epilepsy: Actions on Neuronal Networks in seizures disorders*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1992. pp. 195-211.